IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

 $FILED_{\text{SID J. WHITE}}$

SEP. 14 1993

CLERK, SUPREME COURTE

By

Chief Deputy Clerk

MICHAEL GENE ABSHIRE,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. 81,326

STATE OF FLORIDA

Appellee.

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Respectfully submitted,

David S. Morgan Florida Bar number 651265 724 South Beach Street, Suite 3 Daytona Beach, Florida 32114 (904) 248-1116

COUNSEL FOR THE APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF CASE AND FACTS

The defendant, Michael Gene Abshire, and his codefendant, John Christopher Marquad, were charged by indictment with the first degree murder of Stacey Ann Willetts and with armed robbery with a deadly weapon (R 30).¹ The public defender was appointed to represent the defendant at pretrial on March 30, 1992 (R 20). Private counsel, Robert L. McLeod II, was appointed by the court on April 7, 1992, to represent the defendant (R 21).

PRETRIAL

The defense filed a number of pretrial motions (R 40; 61; 84; 89; 92; 96; 128; 128; 163; 178; 183; 185). The motions were denied.

GUILT PHASE PROCEEDINGS

VOIR DIRE

During voir dire the prosecutor made a number of sexist remarks. The following exchange took place at side bar:

MR. WHITSON [prosecutor]: Judge, if we can get something besides women and former police officers, we'll get us a panel.

MR. McLEOD [defense counsel]: What's wrong with women? (R 875, emphasis added).

The prosecutor and William R. Hallinan, a former police officer, had the following exchange:

PROSPECTIVE JUROR HALLINAN: I think my background makes me

¹The parties will be referred to by their trial court designations, *i.e.*, the defendant and the state. References to the record on appeal are indicated by "(R and page number)".

iaded.

MR. WHITSON: I don't think you have a chance sitting on this jury, just between us girls, if that will help you any.

(R 886, emphasis added; see also 876; 877).

The court asked spontaneously why the prosecution was striking another woman. The defense objected because the prosecution continued to exercise peremptory strikes against women. The trial judge expressly found that the state was systematically excluding women, but overruled the defense objection because previous holdings from this court had involved improper peremptories based upon race rather than gender:

THE COURT: If you'd go back out there and have a seat. I believe it's now the State's opportunity to tell me about --

MR. WHITSON: How many strikes did I have?

THE COURT: You have six.

MR. WHITSON: I'm going to take three right now, strike number one. That's Mrs. Toler.

THE COURT: What is the reason you are striking her?

MR. WHITSON: On the back side. I want one more.

THE COURT: Because what?

MR. WHITSON: Somebody on the back side that I want more than I want her.

THE COURT: I was curious. Go ahead. Who else?

MR. WHITSON: Jo Walton and Willie Williams.

THE COURT: Okay.

MR. McLEOD: I want to interpose an objection, challenge the peremptories. Given the statement made the last time about women, given the

systematic exclusion, back strike on women this time, I want to challenge the State to indicate why, on each and every one of the women that they have challenged on a peremptory basis, perhaps to Slappy which I understand and Neil deals with blacks and not women.

THE COURT: Deals with distinct racial groups.

MR. McLEOD: And I want to make the objection based upon the fact that women, constitutionally, like racial groups and like minorities, are protected areas, and why they are being systematically excluded from this jury.

THE COURT: Why are they being excluded?

MR. WHITSON: They are not being systematically excluded. We have five women on the jury.

THE COURT: Well, based on the rules that I understand are laid down by Slappy, the fact that you have blacks on the jury does not excuse you from systematically excusing other blacks and I don't think there is any question in this case but you're systematically excluding women. You even made that statement that if you could get anything but police officers and women on this jury, you wouldn't have any problem.

Tell me why you are systematically excluding women.

MR. WHITSON: It's my impression, Judge, from the people that I've asked to have stricken, they tend to be more, more emotional than the other people on the jury that I have not stricken from my view of their answers. Their answers to some of the tougher questions were more equivocal than the remaining people that we've asked to have stay on the jury.

THE COURT: Well then, the next question is why do you suddenly decide to excuse Toler and Walton when you've not asked them additional questions?

MR. McLEOD: And Williams, Judge.

MR. WHITSON: I remember the answers from the earlier question process.

THE COURT: Tell me what the questions were and the answers they gave that made you think that.

MR. WHITSON: It's the impression I'm left with regards to their

questions, to questions I've put. I haven't written down my mental impression, but I've been left with those mental impressions and I'm sharing those with the Court. There are people on the back side of the venire panel that I think are more qualified to sit as the triers of fact in this case than those three that I've asked to have stricken now.

THE COURT: That's not sufficient, but Slappy doesn't apply to women. Williams is stricken and Toler and Walton and Williams. Slappy does not apply to women because they are not a distinct racial group.

Let's go to the defendant.

MR. McLEOD: One more thing on the record. I object specifically to the State's argument concerning the exclusion, the systematic exclusion of women based upon their quote emotions, as being a stereotyping of females.

THE COURT: Well, until the Florida Supreme Court, the United States Supreme Court recognizes women as being a distinct group who cannot be systematically excluded from the jury, I will not do so. Otherwise, that only leaves white males who can be systematically excluded from the jury and I think we are fast arriving at the point in the system where peremptory challenges are going by the board. I don't think that's the intent of the Slappy case.

(R 923-27, emphases added).

OPENING STATEMENTS

During the state's opening statement the prosecutor commented about the defendant and his counsel:

[MR. WHITSON:] Throughout the history of this case, up to approximately June of this year, Michael Abshire has continued to send notes to Pat Greenhalgh, the case agent in this case, wanting to talk to her. Numbers and numbers of theses requests. Some of which have specific clues on the bottom of them. "I don't want my lawyer in here."

MR McLEOD: May I approach the bench?

THE COURT: Yes, you may.

(Whereupon, the following side-bar conference

was had.)

MR. McLEOD: I object to the statement or the opening statement regarding any request for counsel or denial of counsel. I move for a mistrial based on it.

THE COURT: What is the purpose of telling the jury about the statement that says he didn't want his lawyer present?

MR. WHITSON: Well, there is no point to do so.

THE COURT: Motion for mistrial is denied.

Don't talk about what he said about his lawyer.

MR. WHITSON: Okay.

THE COURT: Otherwise, the objection is overruled.

(R 1215-17, emphasis added).

STATE'S CASE-IN-CHIEF

The only statement that had been given by the defendant which was allowed into evidence was given on November 16, 1991 (R 1109; 1259).² Virtually all of the details concerning the crime were provided to the police through statements given to them by the defendant (R 485). The defendant told the investigating detective that he was willing to take a polygraph to prove that he was telling the truth (R 1299).

The defendant's companions, his codefendant and the victim, argued as they drove to Florida (R 1153). The codefendant told the defendant at a convenience store that he was going to take the victim into the woods and kill her. The defendant told the codefendant that he would

²The defense successfully objected to the admission of testimony concerning statements made by the defendant to the police after counsel had been appointed (R 1142).

have to kill her by himself (R 1153; 1268). However, the defendant had been certain that the codefendant would not go through with it (R 1269).

By the third day in Florida the codefendant and the victim were arguing again (R 1155). The two codefendants told the victim that they were going to go to a party in the woods. (R 1156; 1271). After driving three-tenths to one-half of a mile on a dirt road, the codefendants "geared up", *i.e.*, put on camouflage pants, poncho, and suspenders which held knives, flashlights and similar items (R 1157; 1278-79). The defendant led the way further into the woods because he had the flashlight and because he was frightened (R 1280). The victim was walking immediately behind him and the codefendant was at the rear. (R 1157) They tried a number of paths but encountered impassable briars (R 1157; 1280).

The victim said she had seen a snake and said that she wanted to go back (R 1281). On the way back the defendant heard a muffled scream (R 1158; 1281). He turned and saw the codefendant with his hand over the victim's mouth, and her feet off of the ground. *Id.* Marquad stabbed her in the front of her body and threw her to the ground (R 1158; 1282). He then straddled her and twice placed her head under water. The victim stopped breathing at this point (R 483). The codefendant gave the defendant a knife and told him to stick the lifeless body. As the defendant followed the directions of the codefendant he saw that the victim's throat had been cut (R 1159; 1283). The codefendant took out his Gurka knife and chopped at the back of the head (R 1159; 1284). He turned to the defendant and said: "Your knife has not been bloodied. You need to do it." The defendant complied with the direction by chopping at the same spot where the codefendant had chopped (R 1159; 1285). Detective Greenhalgh admitted that the state lacked evidence to establish that the victim was not dead the first time that the defendant stabbed

her (R 1185). The codefendant took the victim's wallet (R 1286).

Back at their motel the codefendant went through the victim's duffle bag. He took certain items and gave some large shirts to the defendant (R 1160; 1288). The remainder of her belongings were later discarded.

After dumping the victim's belongings the codefendants drove to Orlando (R 1291). The codefendant would not let the defendant talk about what had happened (R 1292). The codefendant told him that if he did talk he would kill him (R 1293).

They met Pat Sippel (R 1294). Ms. Sippel rented a building to the codefendants between June and September, 1991 (R 1349). The following took place before the jury at the beginning of cross examination of this witness:

BY MR. McLEOD:

- Q Mrs. Sippel, during that time, did you get to know Mike and John?
- A Fairly much.
- Q Okay. And did you know Mike as a polite or quiet person?

MR. WHITSON: Judge, objection, outside the scope of direct. If he wants to try his case, I don't have any objection to anything he wants to do with his case in chief.

THE COURT: Sustained.

MR. McLEOD: May I approach side bar?

THE COURT: Yes, you may.

(Whereupon the following proceedings were had at side bar:)

MR. McLEOD: I object to the comment that the prosecutor said about my case as being a comment on my client's right to remain silent and/or the preventative or to present a defense and I move for a mistrial based on the

statement.

THE COURT: That motion is denied. The jury has no idea what case in chief means unless you tell them. Don't make any more comments that refer in any way to that. You know, you-all can take the case and gum it up by aside comments like that.

MR. WHITSON: Yes, sir.

THE COURT: Don't say anything else about it.

MR. WHITSON: Yes, sir.

(R 1349-50, emphasis added).

Hunters found the body of the victim (R 976). The evidence technician of the St. Johns County Sheriff's Office (SJCSO) found bones and clothing scattered around the location (R 986). A dog trained to locate cadavers was brought to the scene and located one bone (R 1150).

A forensic anthropologist located a couple of bones as well. *Id.* This witness, however, did not have an opinion as to the cause of death (R 1386). Nor could he say whether the victim had been decapitated (R 1387).

The medical examiner found evidence of a cut wound on vertebrae, which he characterized as a fatal wound (R 1024-1025). He testified that a person with such a wound would not be able to move (R 1026). He also found defects to the fifth and sixth ribs, indicating wounds (R 1025). The witness was not, however, able to determine if any wounds had been inflicted after death or which of the wounds had been inflicted prior to death (R 1033). He acknowledged that death could have been caused by other wounds (R 1036). The prosecutor asked the medical examiner: "You cannot rule out that this lady was virtually scared to death before she was cut?" (R 1041, emphasis added). The defense objection was sustained.

Detective Greenhalgh first contacted the defendant in Wilmington, North Carolina (R.

1080). Defense counsel asked the investigating detective if the defendant had ever expressed any ill feelings toward the victim (R 1308). The prosecutor advised the court at side bar that he viewed this as opening the door to questions regarding lack of remorse by the defendant (R 1308-09). The following colloquy was had:

Q [by Mr. McLeod] And Detective Greenhalgh, I take it then that at that time and on that date when you spoke with Mr. Abshire, he never expressed any malice towards Stacey Willetts.

- A No, he did not.
- Q Thanks, that's all.

THE COURT: Just so everybody will understand, what do you mean by malice?

BY MR. McLEOD:

Q He never expressed, Detective Greenhalgh that he had any ill feelings, bad feelings towards Stacey Willetts.

A No, he did not.

MR. McLEOD: Thank you.

MR. WHITSON: Judge, my redirect is going to necessitate some questions outside of the jury because of the way I think a door on that issue has been opened and I'd like to put some questions to the witness.

THE COURT: Come to the side bar.

(Whereupon, the following proceedings were had at side bar:)

Tell me what it's about.

MR. WHITSON: By him putting that question to the witness, I think he's opened the door about me asking this witness whether or not he expressed any emotion at all towards Stacey Willets, including remorse.

MR. McLEOD: I asked him in that statement did he ever, say

anything to express any malice or ill will towards her. That doesn't talk about remorse or the crime done. I also couched it only into that statement at that time.

THE COURT: Do you have an objection to his questioning or not.

MR. McLEOD: Yes.

THE COURT: What's your objection?

MR. McLEOD: You can't ask a witness, State v. Jones, you can't ask a question directed toward whether or not a client showed any remorse for a crime he had done.

THE COURT: You can ask a question did he show any ill will, but he can't ask --

MR. McLEOD: That's not what I asked. What I asked was did he make any statements that indicated he had malice or ill will towards Stacy.

THE COURT: The objection is sustained.

MR. WHITSON: Judge, before you roll back over there, can I ask you one more question?

THE COURT: Yes, you may.

MR. WHITSON: My understanding of the case law, and I'm willing to take it up on appeal and suffer the consequences if I'm wrong about this, Judge, but when that issue of emotion is opened by the defense the State can follow it up with the question that I want to put now, if you find that the word remorse is wrong, did he express any emotion at all concerning Stacy Willets.

THE COURT: The objection is sustained as to remorse. You may ask the question about any emotion.

MR. WHITSON: Thank you.

(R 1309-10).

The court limited the defense when it attempted to question a detective who had investigated the codefendant:

BY MR. McLEOD:

Q Detective Welborn, you were involved in the investigation of the homicide; is that correct?

A Yes, sir.

Q And you conducted an investigation specifically of John Marquad in St. Petersburg, Florida, isn't that correct?

A Yes, sir.

Q And your investigation of John Marquad revealed that in fact John Marquad did stab and murder Stacy Willets, is that correct?

MR. WHITSON: Judge, this is outside the scope of direct examination.

THE COURT: Well --

MR. WHITSON: And too, Judge, if he gets to try his case on cross-examination, it defects [sic] the rules of evidence.

THE COURT: Mr. Whitson, that's not for the jury. The objection is sustained for a number of reasons, all of which are known to both of you.

MR. McLEOD: I cannot go forward with the question?

THE COURT: You cannot go forward with the question. The objection is sustained.

(R 1326).

The state called Hobart Harrison, whose first degree murder charge was reduced to second degree murder, as a witness against the defendant (R 1411). This witness' attorney also represented the codefendant in this case (R 1412). Although the convict attempted to portray the defendant as the more culpable of the two who were involved, he admitted that he was frightened of Marquad, but not of the defendant (R 1418-19; 1420). The witness also testified that it was the codefendant, John Marquad, not the defendant, who had played Dungeons and Dragons all

day long in the jail (R 1420).

The state rested after this witness testified, as did the defense (R 1430).

DEFENSE MOTIONS

The defense moved for a judgment of acquittal as to the murder by arguing that there was no evidence of premeditation (R 1431). A motion for judgment of acquittal as to the robbery was based upon the fact that the victim was dead prior to the taking of her property (R 1434). The motions were denied. *Id*.

CHARGE CONFERENCE

Defense counsel requested the standard instruction on accessory after the fact (R 1467). The court, however, denied the request (R 1469). The defense also requested an instruction that specific intent was required to establish that the defendant was acting as a principal (R 1469-1470). The written request stated:

DEFENDANT'S REQUESTED JURY INSTRUCTION REGARDING INTENT AND PRINCIPALS

(Add to principal instruction)

In order to convict someone of aiding and abetting in a crime as a principal in the first degree, the State must prove that MICHAEL ABSHIRE at the time of so aiding and abetting another commit the crime had the specific intent to participate and commit the crime(s) charged.

Valdez v. State, 504 So. 2d 9 (2nd DCA 1986)

Mere knowledge that the offense is being committed is not the same as participation with criminal intent, and mere presence at the scene or the display of questionable behavior after the fact, is insufficient to establish participation in the offense.

Staten v. State, 519 So. 2d 622 (Fla. 1988).

(R 283; during the charge conference the defense also cited *Collins v. State*, 438 So. 2d 1036 (Fla. 2d DCA 1983)).

CLOSING ARGUMENTS

During the state's argument the prosecutor's remarks prompted the defense to object on at least three occasions.. The first objection was in response to the prosecutor's characterization of the defendant as the "dragon master":

[MR. WHITSON:] I'm going to take you on a little trip through Michael Abshire's mind. Dungeons and Dragons dragon master. . . .

Page two of the confession we decided not to go to Atlanta. I think I convinced him. Michael Abshire convinced Marquad. He's leading the pack. Stacey had \$300 when they left.

Page two. "who registered for the motel," Ms. Greenhalgh. "I did." The dragon master did. He got paid back.

Page three. Like I held most of my -- all of my money and most of John's. The dragon master held the money.

MR. McLEOD: Objection, Your Honor. May I approach side bar?

THE COURT: All right.

(Counsel for the state and counsel for the Defense approached the bench and the following proceedings took place outside the presence of the jury.)

MR. McLEOD: There's no evidence in this statement and there's no evidence in this case before this jury that my client ever even played Dungeons and Dragons or was a *dragon master*, and I don't want that said again, and I move to strike.

THE COURT: Well, there is evidence in the case that they played Dungeons and Dragons, and there is evidence in there whether you believe it or not where Hobart Harrison said about the remarks, he said about the circle on the floor and so forth. Stay away from the name calling, Mr. Whitson. Try to stay with the facts. You understand me?

MR. WHITSON: Yes, sir.

MR. McLEOD: Can I add one thing?

THE COURT: Sure.

MR. McLEOD: There's no testimony by any witness that my client ever played Dungeons and Dragons, and that Marquad did --

THE COURT: There is evidence from what inference can be drawn that your client was part and parcel. It will not be stricken but stay away from the name calling and try the facts.

MR. WHITSON: Yes, sir.

(R 1505-06, emphases added).

The prosecutor later suggested that if the defendant was not convicted then no one would be punished for the victim's death because the codefendant could tell a similar story:

[MR. WHITSON:] Ladies and gentlemen, if John Marquad gets up in here and tells the kind of story that this man wants you to believe, is sufficient to find this man not guilty of killing Stacey Willets and taking her property incident to that murder, nobody is going to get convicted for the loss of Stacey.

"John's only regret was not killing her sooner because it would have cost less financially if he'd killed her sooner."

MR. McLEOD: I need to interpose an objection at side bar, Judge.

THE COURT: Come on up.

(Counsel for the State and counsel for the Defense approached the bench and side bar conference was had out of the hearing of the jury as follows:)

MR. McLEOD: I think I need to object to the statement that if my client is not convicted that there will be no conviction for Stacey Willets by anybody because of John Marquad --

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