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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

POINT 1: The state did not improperly or discriminatorily exclude women from jury service based upon the actual composition of the jury that tried the case and based upon the law as it has developed in the area of jury selection.

POINT 2: The prosecution's use of peremptory strikes did not violate the Fair-Cross Section of the requirement of the Sixth Amendment, nor did it violate the equal protection clause of the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution. The law is settled that the Fair-Cross Section requirement of the Sixth Amendment does not provide a basis for relief because the Sixth Amendment does not apply to the use of peremptory challenges. Likewise, Abshire is not entitled to relief based upon the Fourteenth Amendment component of his claim because he has not prima demonstrated even facie of gender-based а case discrimination.

POINT 3: The prosecution did not comment on improper and irrelevant matters, but, instead, the statement about which Abshire complains is clearly a factual reference to an item of evidence anticipated by the state. That statement was not an attack on the integrity of the defendant's attorney, and was not improper. Even if that single comment was improper, any error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

POINT 4: The facts do not support Abshire's claim that the prosecution improperly commented on Abshire's failure to testify. No reasonable reading of the statement at issue allows it to be interpreted as an improper comment.

- 6 -

POINT 5: The state's questioning of the medical examiner was not improper and is not a basis for relief because Abshire's objection to the state's question was sustained, and the jury was instructed to disregard the question. Abshire did not move for a mistrial, and has no adverse ruling from which to appeal.

POINT 6: The state did not impermissibly inquire into the defendant's lack of remorse. The state never argued that Abshire had shown no remorse, but rather merely asked the investigating officer whether Abshire had shown any emotion whatsoever. That question came in response to a cross examination question asked by the defendant in which the witness was asked if Abshire had expressed any malice toward the victim. Abshire opened the door through his cross examination, and there is no error.

POINT 7: Abshire's right to cross examination was not improperly restricted when the state's objection to Abshire's questions of a witness concerning the results of the investigation into the codefendant was sustained as being outside the scope of direct examination. Abshire's questions did not relate to the credibility of the witness, were outside the scope direct examination, and the objection to that line of questioning was properly sustained.

POINT 8: The three instances of prosecutorial misconduct argued by Abshire in his brief are either not supported by the evidence, or were corrected by the trial court's instructions to the jury. Juries are presumed to follow their instructions, and Abshire received exactly what he requested. The jury was properly instructed on the law of accomplice liability, and the trial

- 7 -

court correctly refused to give Abshire's proposed jury charge. The instruction given in this case covered the concepts contained in Abshire's requested instruction, and, moreover, the evidence comported with the standard jury instruction and there was no basis for giving any additional instructions.

POINT 10: Of the individual specifications of "prosecutorial misconduct" contained in Point 10 of Abshire's brief, all but one of those instances has previously been addressed in the state's brief. To the extent that Abshire claims that "the prosecutor denigrated women at least three times during voir dire", two of those instances occurred outside the presence of the jury, and the third instance was so benign that it would not have made any difference.

POINT 11: Section 921.141 of the Florida Statutes is constitutional. Such challenges to the statute have been repeatedly rejected, and, to the extent that Abshire argues different challenges to the constitutionality of the Florida death penalty act, those claims are foreclosed by binding precedence.

POINT 12: The jury was properly instructed that parole status at the time of the offense is sufficient to establish the "under sentence of imprisonment" aggravating circumstance. This issue was not preserved by timely objection, and, even if it had been, it would not entitle Abshire to relief.

POINT 13: The trial court properly allowed the state to inquire into the specifics of Abshire's prior violent felony under binding precedent.

- 8 -

POINT 14: The trial court properly found the during the course of a robbery or for pecuniary gain aggravating circumstance, and did not improperly "double" those aggravators. The trial court was aware that "double counting" was improper, and the sentencing order is clear that no impermissible doubling of aggravating circumstances occurred.

POINT 15: The trial court properly found the heinous, atrocious or cruel aggravating circumstance, and Abshire has not been held vicariously liable for the actions of his co-defendant in establishing this aggravating circumstance. The facts of this case establish the heinous, atrocious or cruel aggravator under the precedents of this court.

POINT 16: The trial court properly found the cold, calculated and premeditating aggravating circumstance because the facts of this case clearly establish a "careful plan or prearranged design" effect the murder of the victim. This aggravating circumstance was applied in accordance with the prior decisions of this court.

POINT 17: The death penalty is proportionate to Abshire's culpability under the facts of the offense.

- 9 -

ARGUMENT

POINT 1

THE STATE DID NOT DISCRIMINATORILY EXCLUDE WOMEN FROM JURY SERVICE IN VIOLATION OF ABSHIRE'S RIGHTS UNDER THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION.

Abshire argues that the rationale of <u>State v. Neil</u>, 457 So. 2d 481 (1984) and its progeny should be extended to include the prosecution's use of peremptory challenges in what is claimed to be a gender-based fashion. Specifically, Abshire argues that the state used its peremptory challenges to exclude women from the jury that tried his capital case. This claim is without merit for four independently adequate reasons.

First, the jury that ultimately decided this case consisted of eight women and four men (R. 1771). While the focus is on the excluded jurors rather than on the jurors who actually served, the fact that two-thirds of the jury that heard this case consisted of women is certainly evidence of а lack of discriminatory intent on the part of the prosecution.² Moreover, while it is difficult to discern from the record, the jurors who were peremptorily challenged responded to voir dire questioning in a manner that led the prosecutor to believe that other prospective jurors were more desirable. Of course, that is the heart of the peremptory challenge--a challenge that can be exercised merely because another prospective juror is more desirable as a member of the particular jury being selected. TO claim, as Abshire does, that the prosecution systematically

² The alternate juror was also a woman.

excluded women from the jury strains credibility when the ultimate make-up of the jury is considered. While the prosecution did strike four women, it is apparent that the female jurors who were challenged were the subject of a peremptory challenge so that other jurors, who were also women, would serve on the jury. This case demonstrates jury selection strategy, not gender-based discrimination.

The second reason that this claim is without merit is because the <u>Neil-Slappy</u> rationale does not apply to purported gender-based discrimination. Moreover, the multi-part analysis set out in <u>Slappy</u> does not function in the gender context. <u>See</u>, <u>e.g.</u>, <u>State v. Slappy</u>, 522 So. 2d 18, 22 (Fla. 1988).

The <u>Slappy</u> court identified five factors which could demonstrate an impermissible motive for striking a prospective juror. Those factors were:

(1) Alleged group bias not shown to be shared by the juror in question; (2) failure to examine the juror or perfunctorily examination, assuming neither the trial court nor opposing counsel had questioned the jurors; (3) singling the juror out for special questions designed to evoke a certain response; (4) the prosecutor's reason is unrelated to the facts of the case; and (5) a challenge based on reasons equally applicable to juror[s] who were not challenged [citation omitted].

<u>State v. Slappy</u>, 522 So. 2d at 22. Applying those factors to Abshire's claim demonstrates why the <u>Slappy</u> factors do not work in this context.

The starting point in the <u>Slappy</u> analysis was that the defendant was the same race as the challenged juror. <u>Id</u>., at 19.

Obviously, Abshire is not a woman, and does not satisfy that component of <u>Slappy</u>. However, given the decision in <u>Powers v</u>. <u>Ohio</u>, 111 S. Ct. 1364 (1991), the Supreme Court seems to no longer focus on racial identity between the prospective juror and the defendant, choosing instead to focus on the right of the juror to serve.³ However, that factor does not matter because Abshire has not and cannot demonstrate that women have ever been denied the chance to serve on juries in St. Johns County or anywhere else in the State of Florida. Any claim to the contrary is squarely rebutted by the gender make-up of the jury that actually heard this case. A long-standing history of race discrimination underlies the <u>Slappy</u> line of cases; there is no such history of discrimination against women in jury selection.

Insofar as the five Slappy factors are concerned, none of them apply to this case, and at least one of them can never apply to a claim of gender discrimination. Specifically, the first factor (alleged group bias) can never apply to peremptory challenges based on gender because women are not a "group" in the sense that they have "an internal cohesiveness of attitudes, ideas or experiences that may not be adequately represented by other segments of society". <u>State v. Allen</u>, 616 So. 2d 452, 454 (Fla. 1993). Women simply do not meet that criteria. Instead, as a "group", women are more closely akin to city residents, young adults and college students, which have specifically been

 $^{^3}$ This shift in focus seems to be a partial return to the rationale of <u>Swain v. Alabama</u>, which looked to, and was based upon, the right of the individual to serve on a trial jury.

found <u>not</u> to constitute cognizable "groups" for jury selection purposes. Id., at n. $3.^4$

The second, third, and fourth <u>Slappy</u> factors do not apply to this case. The state did not fail to voir dire the jurors who were struck and did not single out jurors for special questioning. Further, the reasons given by the prosecutor, to the extent that any reasons were given, were directly related to the case itself.

The fifth <u>Slappy</u> factor is, at best, difficult to graft onto a claim of gender discrimination. That factor is intended to address a situation in which black jurors, who otherwise have the same characteristics as white jurors, are struck.⁵ This factor is not workable when the class is as broad as gender.

Finally, policy reasons do not support the sweeping expansion of the law that Abshire advocates. Discrimination in the selection of juries has long been condemned and, since <u>Strauder v. West Virginia</u>, 100 U.S. 303 (1879) has not been allowed. Abshire's argument, on its face, is an extension of this court's opinions in the <u>Neil-Slappy</u> line of cases. However, that argument is far more sweeping than any decision which has gone before because, if this court adopts Abshire's argument as the law of this state, the present system of jury selection will be rendered invalid. If the law is as Abshire wants it to be, no

⁴ The underlying requirement for classification as a "group" for jury selection purposes is that the group be a substantial minority within the community. <u>Id</u>. That cannot be said about women, since they represent a majority of the population.

An example of this would be when the state struck all black teachers but left all white teachers on the jury.

juror will be subject to a peremptory challenge. Because women constitute a majority of the population, this court will ultimately be forced to confront the issue of whether or not white men can be the subject of a peremptory challenge. Under precedent, that holding would be mandated. When that happens, there will be no system in place for the selection of juries, and the entire system will stop until a new method is formulated. At best, the result would be massive confusion.⁶ The potential for mischief that this issue carries with it is apparent from the facts of this case, in which Abshire exercised all but one of his peremptory strikes against male jurors, with the result that four men served on the jury. While Abshire attempts to limit the issue to only women, he cannot have it both ways. If it is improper for the state to strike women based on gender, it is equally improper for the defendant to discriminate. There is no question that the defendant has no right to exercise his peremptory strikes based on race, Georgia v. McCullum, 112 S. Ct. 2348 (1992) and it would be wholly inconsistent to suggest that gender-based striking is any different. While Abshire may argue that he objected and the state did not, that argument misses the The result must be, if the law is to be as Abshire wants, point. that neither party can strike any juror based on gender. The result of that holding will be that peremptory challenges are

⁶ At that point in time, <u>Neil-Slappy</u> will become obsolete because the broad gender classification will have swallowed the racial category insofar as the use of peremptory challenges is concerned.

effectively eliminated because no challenge will withstand Constitutional scrutiny.⁷

The state should not be understood as suggesting that discrimination of any sort should be allowed to take place in the jury selection process. However, when the proposed "class" of affected juror is based on gender, which is the broadest definition possible, there must be some sort of reasonable rule. In this case, Abshire cannot claim that he was prejudiced because eight women sat on the jury and recommended a death sentence. It makes little sense to complain about the state's excusal of women in the face of that result. Likewise, the ultimate composition of the jury lends credence to the assistant state attorney's statement that he struck certain jurors because there were other jurors that he wanted to be on the jury (R. 926). In other words, the state had to strike some women to place other jurors, who were also women, on the jury. That does not amount to gender-based discrimination, and it certainly does not entitle Abshire to any relief. This claim is without merit.

As stated above, the actual use of the state's peremptory challenges rebuts Abshire's claim. The state only used four peremptory challenges against women, and exercised five peremptory challenges against men. At the time of the muchdiscussed comment about women and former police officers, a second panel of prospective jurors had been called that consisted

^{&#}x27; If this court rules in accord with Abshire's position, there will never be any need to address whether, for example, age can be a basis for the use of peremptory strikes because the genderbased prohibition against peremptory strikes will swallow every other possible basis.

of nine women and one former police officer. <u>See</u>, <u>e.q.</u>, R. 788-20. The defendant struck first, and, predictably, struck the former police officer. The state then exercised its peremptories against a male on the first panel, a female on the first panel who had subsequently expressed reservations about the death penalty, and two women on the second panel. At this time, the second panel was entirely female because of the defendant's strike against the only male on that panel.

Apparently, the trial court's comment concerning the state's supposed systematic exclusion of women was based upon an inaccurate perception of the number of peremptories the state had exercised against women. However, the inescapable fact is that the use of four peremptory strikes against women does not amount to systematic exclusion based on gender. The only gender-based systematic exclusion of jurors that occurred in this case was done by the defendant when he used nine peremptory strikes to remove men from the jury. Abshire is entitled to no relief on this claim.

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